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Dedicated to Norman Moss 1929 – 2020 of Whitehaven County Grammar School, UK Teacher, Mentor, Friend


Und wenn Du meinst, es geht nicht mehr, kommt von irgendwo ein Lichtlein her.


Just when you think there’s no hope, from somewhere comes a little light.
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SERGEANT AMBROSE ADLAM, 
405 SQUADRON, RCAF





And could a man do good? 
There was one way that he could 
In a world descended into filth and mire 
So, his name went on the form 
For a light blue uniform 
He signed for Bomber Command... and barbed wire.



Each night in hostile air 
Stuttgart, Duisburg, St Nazaire, 
He chose to fly into the way of harm 
‘Bombing Nazis’ was the aim 
With high explosive, shrapnel, flame 
Nightfighter bastards came for him in swarms.



Dortmund was ‘target for tonight’ 
And there never was a fight 
But a 110 made his Halifax a pyre 
Four only got away 
Those he never saw again 
No more bomber command... just barbed wire.



To Stalag Luft he came 
With escape the greatest game 
What part he might have played? Of that he never said 
He was never the kind of bloke 
To sit it out and light a smoke 
No bloody fear, he’d sooner have been shot down and very dead.



But that game it went awry 
With fifty men condemned to die 
His unspoken memory unsaid, locked in but dire 
But would he do it all again? 
He would have signed that dotted line 
To sign for Bomber Command... and barbed wire.









PROLOGUE






My own dear wife, I am out of hospital and at a camp at last and my address is Kriegsgefangenenlager No 3.



Ambrose Adlam wrote those words on 5 October 1943. The place in which he had found himself was Stalag Luft III. When he wrote them he had no idea that that place would become famous, or infamous, across a whole world of military history. After the war he never mentioned the camp or his time there. As a product of the English working class and from the back streets of an industrial town, he would have had no expectation to touch the hem of history. Touch it he did but, having touched it, he just wanted it out of his mind forever.


Miranda, his wife, his children and his six siblings had no idea that he had ever been there. His letters had indeed been marked ‘Kriegsgefangenlager III’ but the significance was not apparent. There was only one glimpse of the story and that flickered and died with Ambrose who, himself, died in 1962. The clue lay in a handdrawn map which Ambrose drew of his war-time journey for his children. He indicated that he had been held prisoner in Stalag Luft III but the reader had to look for that fact. No one did and, indeed, in 1962 few people in the world had ever heard of Stalag Luft III. In a fit of irony, fate had decreed that the famous film The Great Escape was already in production when he died. The map is added as an appendix to this book.


Half a century later, his son Mike in Gloucestershire talked with researcher and writer Jeff Steel in Melbourne, Australia. Mike had inherited a pile of letters after his mother’s death. She had asked that he burn them. Instinct told him not to.


Given that Ambrose had taken part in a number of raids, Jeff thought that the story might well be interesting: ‘No promises, mind!’. The letters might hold valuable information; sometimes they do in these cases. He took the job on.


What Jeff found was evidence of a dramatic story, one which Ambrose clearly did not want to tell during his lifetime.


Among the letters was one postmarked Stalag Luft III on 25 March 1944. Ambrose had written it at the exact time that the camp was in an uproar as the Luftwaffe guards had discovered the tunnels and the Great Escape.


Regarding Ambrose’s career in different squadrons, it was relatively easy to find out what Royal Air Force (RAF) units he had served in and which raids he had been involved in.


From his letters and historical information, it was possible to reconstruct life on an operational bomber station: Ambrose was at RAF Leeming and Marham as an ‘erk’ – technical ground crew. This was not enough for him. A mixture of pride, bravado, competition with his brother Bill and a dislike of the Third Reich made him volunteer for air combat duty. He was later at RAF Leeming and RAF Gransden Lodge as a flight engineer, whose technical expertise helped the pilot, Johnny Lennox, fly their heavy Halifax bombers.


Ambrose’s story charts the perils of training: some 5,000 Bomber Command crew members died in training without ever flying on operations. It also charts the perils of flying on those missions – Ambrose would have known perfectly well that he would be unlikely to complete a ‘tour’ of 30; all aircrews did. But he had made a commitment to risk his life dropping bombs on Hitler’s Third Reich.


It was also possible to reconstruct the life and death struggle of the actual raids, how he was shot down and life in the POW camps. Ambrose was held in several different camps; the key ones were Dulag Luft, near Frankfurt; Stalag Luft III; and Fallingbostel near Hannover.


Jeff was fortunate enough to be helped by Tony Casson of Melbourne, whose father, John Casson, was in the first two camps. As will become evident in the story, John Casson would have known Ambrose. Tony gave Jeff key insights into the Great Escape, some of which have not been published in other works.


Ambrose’s son Mike is in no doubt that, as a ‘get-go’ type, Ambrose would have involved himself in the work of the Great Escape. With his bullet and shrapnel wounds he could not have done digging or heavy lifting work, but there were plenty of other roles to help the escapers for which he was admirably suited.


The events such as raids, conditions in prison camps and historically significant events depicted in this book are all true. There is ample source material from published works (see Select Bibliography) and especially from the UK National Archive, which allows us to track Ambrose’s journey through World War II.


Mike described his father’s personality, attitudes and bias for action to Jeff. He also gave insights into his dad’s general view of the world, the war and the Nazis, which enabled Jeff to develop dialogue to bring the character of Ambrose to life for readers. If Ambrose were to read this biography what would be his comment? Mike believes he’d say wryly, ‘You got it about right, you buggers! But I wanted to forget it – all of it.’




CHAPTER 1










DAWN








AUGUST 1936




Ambrose Adlam was destined for a high stakes game. At the start he did not know it. He would find out. It is 1936; it is either the best time for a male to be approaching manhood or it is the worst.


This year is the seminal year of the 20th century. Adolf Hitler has been in power for three years and is gaining in confidence, daring and muscle. He sends troops to kick out the French and Belgian occupation troops from the Rheinland. He reclaims it for Germany. Hitler dabbles in the Spanish Civil War. Hitler’s Olympic Games in Berlin show a vision of a new dynamic Germany. Hitler announces to the world the Volkswagen: each German family is to have a car. Hitler opens the first concentration camp, albeit quietly, at Oranienburg. Hitler forms a special relationship with the Italian dictator Mussolini, and signs a pact with Japan against the Soviet Union.


It is not clear at this stage where the world is headed. On the streets of Ambrose’s native Gloucester in the English heartland, there is trepidation, uncertainty and fear. As in Gloucester it is the same in Paris, in London, in Melbourne, Australia and across the entire globe.


If Ambrose Adlam had wanted a life without drama, Adolf Hitler’s various strategies, plans and aspirations were to put paid to that pretty darned smartish. On that evening in the middle of the year, in Gloucester, Ambrose was faced with the dawning of a new world. It was not merely one dawn, it was several. Each of those dawns would, in its own unique way, interplay with his life. Each would take him where fate had decreed he should go. It would take him to places he never expected to go; some of these were fascinating and without doubt became major highlights of his life. Finally, fate would take him somewhere that he did not want to go: Stalag Luft III. It would be important, later, to suppress that memory and never talk of it. The family might think that all had been well. They would be quite at liberty to do so but they would be badly in error. All had not been well. Ambrose was destined to soar into the clouds. He was destined to descend into the lower intestines of hell. Afterwards, he could not allow those memories into his mind.


Few survivors could.


However, on this night in 1936 he would go to the pictures in Gloucester with his brother, Bill.


‘What a bloody flick, eh, Bill?’


‘You could see why they banned it,’ said Bill expansively. ‘Mr Baldwin wanted us to be nice to the Germans when he was in power last time. Now he’s back in power again he’s perfectly happy for us not to be nice to the Germans. Bloody politicians, eh?’


‘Tell you what, Bill, I think things are going to get very nasty with Germany in the next couple of years. I don’t know, mind, but I reckon his taking the ban off this film is just one way of softening us all up.’


‘You reckon?’


‘Well, the whole film makes the Germans look bloody uncivilised for a start; I mean, it takes a special kind of monster to shoot nurses.’


They walked away from the crowds at the Picturedrome Theatre and headed into town. The film which they had seen was Dawn starring Dame Sybil Thorndike. It was a powerful piece. It told the story of Nurse Edith Cavell, who had been shot by the Germans in World War I. She had helped hundreds of British soldiers escape from German captivity. They put her against a wall in her underclothes and shot her. It was not merely the narrative, the superb storytelling and charismatic acting which were of note. ‘Bill, you know lots of people in the army... did we do that to German nurses in the Great War?’


‘Not in the Gloucestershire Regiment, I can tell you that. Some of the old-timers have got some nasty stories about the German troops, though. There was one place where they were dragging prisoners behind trucks for fun. They shot an awful lot of civvies as well.’


‘I see Germany’s backing Spain now in the civil war down there. Do you reckon that can lead to war in Europe?’


‘I really don’t know, Ad, but with that bloke Hitler in power any bloody thing can happen. If the Spanish Civil War does really get going, there’s a couple of blokes in our works say they will volunteer to fight on the republican side against the Fascists.’


‘Would you go with them?’


‘Not a chance. That Franco bloke is a nasty piece of work, but he has a proper army and that means disciplines, drill and training. These blokes in our factory are just rank amateurs; they won’t last beyond the first skirmish. How much money would you put on Gloucester City against the Arsenal?’


‘Not much.’


‘Well, that’s what it would be like, Ad: slaughter.’


‘She was fantastic in that film, though, didn’t you think? Dame Sybil, I mean.’


‘She’s fantastic in everything; do you remember we went to see her in Macbeth and the Merchant of Venice? They’re big Labour Party supporters, you know, she and Sir Lewis, her husband.’ In the general run of events men of the working class are not given to enthusiasm for Shakespeare. Such was Dame Sybil’s following as an actress that she attracted a vastly wider audience to his plays. Some said that they would pay to see her read the Gloucester telephone directory, not that there were many entries in it in those days. In one of those flukes of fate which are stranger than fiction, a family member of Dame Sybil was to play a key role in Ambrose’s story at the lowest point of his life.


‘Hang on, Ad, what have we here?’


They were walking down Eastgate Street in the centre of Gloucester.


‘Leaflet, gents? British Union of Fascists! Read it and come and join us!’


An earnest young man in black trousers and a tight, black, rolled-neck pullover walked over to them. His accent was from London; this had to be one of Mosley’s henchmen trying to drum up support. There was little doubt in any British person’s mind at that time that Sir Oswald Mosley had a long-term plan to take over parliament, take over the army and take over the country. It would then become a vassal state to Hitler’s Germany. There was no doubt whatsoever that a vast majority of British people did not want Mosley at any price.


‘Fight against the communists and the Jewboys, protect the British Empire. One per cent of the population are Jewish and 25 per cent of them are millionaires. There has to be something wrong with that, doesn’t there?’


‘Look, mate, it would do us all a favour if you would take your anti-Semitism and stick it where the sun doesn’t shine.’ It was Bill who spoke.


‘Come on, gents, Karl Marx was Jewish; the Rothschilds; in Germany there was Eisener, Luxemburg and Liebknecht. The Jews winkle their way in everywhere; we have to winkle them out again like Herr Hitler is doing to protect Germany.’


‘Yeah, we saw how your lot tried to protect us with your battle in Cable Street in London. You are a bloody disgrace to this country, that’s all you are.’


‘You look like a couple of likely lads who could look after yourselves. Come to one of our meetings. We’ve got William Joyce coming in a couple of weeks’ time. You should hear what he has to say.’


William Joyce was a brilliant scholar of English, a very charming man and a dyed-in-the-wool fascist. He will come into the story later as the evil ‘Lord Haw Haw’.


‘If I came to your meeting, I would bloody show you if I can take care of myself or not.’ Ad joined the conversation.


‘Oh, come on, Ad, we don’t really want a punch-up on the way home.’


‘Come on, lads, Sir Oswald Mosley is the future for this country. We should be in alliance with Herr Hitler and protecting this country from the Stalinists and the Jewish menace.’


‘Listen, matey, if you peddle that stuff around here you are going to finish up in the river and there will be no bugger to pull you out.’


‘Now then, now then, what’s all this?’


A tall figure in a helmet emerged from the shadows.


‘You shouldn’t be protecting this scum, Constable, you should be kicking his head in. We’re going to be fighting them in a couple of years’ time.’


‘My job is to protect the King’s peace, lad, and these blokes are not disobeying any laws as far as my inspector can see.’


‘Yeah! That’s another thing, MATEY!’ said the earnest young man, very paramilitary in his tight black sweater. ‘We have got the King on our side.’


‘Like bloody hell you have. Why would King Edward have anything to do with scum like you?’


‘That’s enough! Go on, lads, off home; we don’t want any trouble, do we?’


From his tone, the policeman found Mosleyites as unpalatable as did most of the rest of the population of Great Britain. But a policeman’s lot is sometimes not a happy one and he had a duty to perform. That meant protecting the buggers.


The young man backed away.


‘Ad! Come on, let’s go home. You are going to have plenty of time to deal with the likes of this creature and it will be soon enough.’ They walked on and were both calm by the time they got back to the family home.


‘It’s going to get nasty, you know, Bill, you can just bloody smell it in the air.’


It was not a good time to be 20-something in that seminal year of 1936. The world stood at a crossroads. Everyone alive at that time reported that you could smell it in the air. Only the most optimistic could hold any hope that the world would remain as sane, reasonable and benign as it was in Britain’s sceptred isle.


‘I was talking with Dad a couple of days ago, Ad; he reckons the world is going daft.’


‘Why was that, then?’


‘Well, in his day, King Edward was on the throne – Edward VII that is, not Edward VIII – and the world ran properly. Everyone had a place and they got on with what they had to get on with. It was a nicer place. We hadn’t had a war that killed millions. We didn’t have communists or fascists or any of these scum regimes around Europe. There was no general strike. God! Wasn’t that just awful? We didn’t have unemployments...’


Unemployment – there was the rub! Both Bill and Ad were fortunate enough to be in employment: Bill as a machinist in the England’s Glory match factory; Ad as a cooper, a barrel maker, at the Gloucester Oil Mills. Neither man was in a job which matched his personality or capability. In those hard times, being in the wrong job was not an issue. Even though the pay was meagre they were consciously grateful for the simple ability to pay their bills.


Many were reduced to eating in soup kitchens or taking souldestroying charity. The Gloucestershire collieries of Foxes Bridge, Bilson and Lightmoor were laying men off by the hundreds. Families stayed in bed all day to conserve energy. There was nothing to eat. Similar stories came in from nearby South Wales, and the industrial heartlands of Staffordshire, Lancashire, Yorkshire, Durham and Northumberland. It felt as though Britain was dying.


‘I see Hitler’s army has invaded the Rheinland now and no-one did anything to stop him,’ said Ad.


‘How could he invade it? The Rheinland is in Germany.’


‘Oh, I don’t know. It was something to do with the Treaty of Versailles.’


‘I see his henchmen are rounding up communists now and sending them to prison camps.’


‘Did you ever work out what the difference is between the communists and the fascists?’


‘There’s a bloke at the factory says he knows what the difference is. Fascism is the exploitation of one man by another and communism is the complete opposite.’


They both laughed.


‘Do you think the King will abdicate, Bill?’


Oh God! It did not matter where you looked, there was turmoil, uncertainty and anxiety.


‘It’s starting to look like it. It won’t go down well in the country, though, Ad, I can tell you that. He visited those people in the East End when the unemployment was at its worst and that went down very well. Even the Daily Mirror, which supports the socialist Labour Party, gave him a good write-up. The King is a very popular man. And Prince Albert, I mean he’s a nice bloke, but he’s not exactly a leader of men. England’s Glory, eh? England’s bloody glory! If the Moreland family started the factory what would they call it now? “England’s bugger’s muddle”, I would think. Come on, get the kettle on, I want a cup of char before I go home. Have you got any of those elvers left?’


‘For God’s sake, let’s cheer up a bit. Think about something else. What’s on at the pictures next week?’


‘Oh, there’s that new picture Things to Come.’


‘Isn’t that about Britain getting bombed into ruins? That’s just what we bloody need,’ said Ad, sighing.


‘Oh, come on, Ad, it’s got Ralph Richardson in it, he’s always very good.’


‘I’d rather find a nice comedy.’


[image: ]


Twenty-year-olds are supposed to be like Labrador dogs: happy, optimistic and finding something to love in everyone and everything.


In a perfect world, 20-somethings would not have to agonise about whether the country was going to descend into chaos. They should not have to worry about whether the whole of Europe was going to war again. The horrors would now be much worse than those of 20 years previously. Now there were bombers which could reduce a city to ashes. Twenty-year-olds should not have to worry about whether their entire civilisation, which had ruled the waves (if not the world), now showed cracks in the edifice, which, unchecked would fall into some kind of civil strife or even civil war.


Nevertheless, to those who were of adult age in those dark days a series of challenging questions could not be ignored.


Was the regime of Adolf Hitler in Germany taking Europe back into a second tragic war within a half-century?


It was.


Was the Spanish Civil War about to break out and Hitler use it as a proving ground for his massively increased army and air force?


It was.


Was the other unpalatable face of Europe, as embodied in Stalin’s Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, plotting day and night to undermine and overthrow every other government in Europe?


It was.


Was King Edward VIII really on the side of the fascists, as the young man in the street had claimed?


He was, although knowledge of this was to be officially managed for over half a century.


Was Britain’s war machine on a par with that of Nazi Germany in the event of war breaking out?


It was not.


Everyone alive at that time understood quite clearly that the old certainties of Bill and Ambrose’s dad’s time were gone. That age of certainty, stability and accepted truth and normality had gone. The dark night that occurred after World War I had come and gone. Now was the dawn of a new age.


What they did not know was what kind of age it would be. They were not in a state of optimism. They had seen the Depression descend on Gloucester as it descended on the rest of Britain and America and Germany and Australia and all of Western Europe. They had seen the Spanish Civil War begin. The fascist dictator Mussolini had increased his empire in Abyssinia. He had gassed tribesmen on horseback. Was there no limit to the disgusting behaviour of these people? Over in Hungary and Rumania more fascist dictatorships sprouted like fountains of evil.


Hitler annexed Austria, which, in all honesty, wanted to be annexed but it represented yet another victory for fascism. Then Hitler annexed the Sudetenland of Czechoslovakia. Then he annexed the rest of Czechoslovakia. Where was this all going? No-one had any answers. Everyone was frightened.




CHAPTER 2










THE BALLOON GOES UP








25 AUGUST 1939




‘They’re coming! They’re coming!’


The policeman in his tall, authoritative helmet held out his arms widely and smiled indulgently and paternally at the crowd on College Street.The worst thing in the world was just about to happen. Britain was now very nearly at war with Germany again. You heard it over and over that ‘you could smell it in the air’. Gloucester still showed the results of World War I 20 years before: men with missing limbs, nervous tics, and those who woke up screaming late at night. It was also full of those who had not come back, who only existed as memories. Few families escaped the sadness left from World War I. Now it was all going to start again. The 5th Battalion of the Gloucestershire Regiment had been mobilised to go to France ‘just in case’.


The threat of war had at least given Ambrose Adlam a direction beyond the soul-destroying task of making barrels; he had volunteered to join the RAF as an aircraftman: a technician repairing aircraft engines. He was grateful that the commanding officer had given him a leave pass. He wanted to turn out on the Gloucester streets as did most of the rest of the population of that medieval city. They filled the pavements and crowded onto the road. There was no question about it: hearts were heavy going into this new war. Even so, they were going to give ‘their lads’ a rousing cheer. The British prided themselves on their stiff upper lip and, heavy heart or not, they were going to give their boys a good send-off.


‘Come on, everyone, step back onto the pavement and let the lads pass. Thank you, madam. A bit further back if you would, sir.’


From around the corner in Westgate Street they could hear the soldiers already. They could hear the thumping of the bass drum. They heard the staccato clatter of 800 pairs of hobnailed boots ‘clacking’ in strict unison. They heard the band playing the regimental song ‘Where Be that Blackbird Be?’


Around the corner they could hear the waves of applause. The first of the parade swung around smartly to the right and into College Street. The band music was closer now. The troops marched with the expected military precision and ‘bags of swank’. Ambrose looked for the massive primrose-coloured regimental flag: that flag with the Union Jack in its top left-hand corner – there it was!


The regimental flag was en route from the barracks and coming nearer now. In the procession were several hundred soldiers led by a colonel on horseback. The flag was to be placed in Gloucester Cathedral for the duration of hostilities. It was now understood with crystal transparency from the inner sanctums of Downing Street to the roughest pub in London’s east end that war with Germany, yet again, was inescapable. The crowd were supportive but sombre. You could almost hear their thoughts: ‘What sort of world will we have when all of this is over? Which of these soldiers will not come back? Who do I know that will die? But we still have to show that we support them and that every bullet they fire is for us.’


The huge regimental flag flapped and fluttered its magnificent way past Ambrose, borne by a colour guard of six who clattered by with a hail of hobnailed boots and operatic military pomp.


A junior officer carried the flag with military pomp, gravitas and ceremony. Behind him marched the colour sergeant with no less authority, certainty and self-confidence. Behind the colour sergeant, with their red sashes, rifles and fixed bayonets, marched the colour guard with great pomp and ceremony. There he was! That was the man that Ambrose was looking for: his brother Bill. Bill had been selected for this party, which was an astonishing honour for a man who had not yet been a sergeant for six months. Ambrose would have to say, though, that Bill was every inch the soldier and was going to do his duty whether Mr Hitler and his massive army stood in the way or not. Heck! Bill looked so military, so proud and so determined that Mr Hitler and his hordes stood no chance. ‘There wasn’t a Nazi who could kill an Adlam!’. The brothers had said it time and time again. They really believed it. They had to believe it! The trouble was that the German army was known to be very, very good at what they did. Ad hoped he was not looking at Bill for the last time.


Something else was placed at Gloucester Cathedral for the duration of hostilities: the Coronation Throne from Westminster Abbey. The only time in 800 years that the Coronation Throne had been moved previously was for the investiture of Oliver Cromwell as Lord Protector in 1653. It was all so relentless! Everywhere you looked, every small fact that you learned, behind every corner of existence there was something which said, ‘war is just around the corner’.


The 5th Battalion now went off by special train to join the 2nd Battalion in Northern France. Gloucester was left in silence, foreboding and fear. What would happen next?


Less than a week later, Hitler’s armies had attacked Poland. He was not going to pull them back. Hearts sank in Gloucester and across the whole of the United Kingdom. Eight days later, back now at RAF Locking, near Bristol, Ambrose listened to Neville Chamberlain’s radio speech.


It was 11:15 on Sunday, 3 September 1939. Ambrose would never forget that speech, nor would anyone else who heard it.


This morning the British Ambassador in Berlin handed the German Government a final note stating that, unless we heard from them by 11 o'clock that they were prepared at once to withdraw their troops from Poland, a state of war would exist between us.


I have to tell you now that no such undertaking has been received, and that consequently this country is at war with Germany.


Those words ‘and that consequently this country is at war with Germany’ resounded and reverberated and replayed through their minds. The last lot had been bad enough with God knows how many dead. This lot was likely to be worse. The words stopped reverberating as Mr Chamberlain ended his speech.


Now may God bless you all. May He defend the right. It is the evil things that we shall be fighting against — brute force, bad faith, injustice, oppression and persecution — and against them I am certain that the right will prevail.
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Ad was glad he was in the RAF. At least he had volunteered to join up. At least he was in a position to do something about the evil German bastards. So far, however, his RAF career had been less than glorious. After volunteering he had been posted to RAF Cardington in Bedfordshire, which was probably the least glamorous posting in the world: a balloon station. Facing a war in which bombers were going to be the main form of attack he was stuck in balloons, which were a failed technology even during World War I. His unit was known as the ‘balloonatics’. Funny though it was, it was also an accurate title. That was depressing.


He had applied for a transfer to a technician’s role and was now aircraftman Grade 2 in training. He was, at least, training for a ground crew role in which he would ‘maintain airframes, engines and rigging’ on aircraft on an operational station. Eight weeks after the war had been declared, he passed his course and was duly posted to 38 Squadron at RAF Marham near Norwich, which had recently been equipped with the new and rather natty Vickers Wellington twin-engined bombers.


And so now, in November 1939, the developments in the war were... none. Nothing whatsoever had happened. Hitler had swallowed up one half of Poland; Stalin had swallowed up the other half. What was happening there did not bear thinking about but over here, in rural East Anglia, the main atrocity of the war was life in freezing Nissen huts. Letters from his brother Bill said the same. The papers were now calling this ‘World War II’, but this war was a complete and total non-event.


Nevertheless, a strict blackout was enforced by pompous, selfimportant and generally hated air raid wardens. They would shout in a very rude and un-British voice at any family letting the slightest chink of light sneak out of their parlour. Rationing of food came in. The management of the family ration book rapidly became a central part of the civilian ecosystem. By law, everyone had to carry a gas mask when they left their house in case of a gas attack from the Luftwaffe. The lessons of the bomber threat from ‘Things to Come’ were being taken seriously in high places.




CHAPTER 3










38 SQUADRON AND VIVIAN ROSEWARNE








3 NOVEMBER 1939




‘Hallo! You’re the new erk are you? I’m Vivian Rosewarne. How’s my kite looking?’


Aircraftmen were always called ‘erks’ after the London cockney pronunciation of ‘erkcraftmen’.


‘Pleased to meet you, Vivian, I’m Ambrose Adlam, but everyone calls me Ad. We found out why it was overheating and it’s as good as new now.’


So, on this day Ad did indeed join the ranks of the erks. The relationship of erks to aircrews was of a special and rarified nature. The aircrews flew the aeroplane, but it was the erks who did the engineering work and the maintenance work. It was they who were to patch up the bullet holes, removed the shrapnel and scrubbed the inside of an aeroplane, after a raid, with petrol. At least they would if there were any meaningful raids. ‘Not like last time,’ said the old-timers. ‘After we declared war, we was off to France. After three weeks we was sticking bayonets into Jerry at Mons. It’s been eight weeks now and nothing’s happened. Not much of a war, this one.’
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No. 38 Squadron flew sweeps and sorties and reconnaissance operations over the North Sea. No-one was dropping any bombs on any German positions, shipping or armed formations. In fact, there were no armed formations within range of RAF Marham. Could it just be that the war was going to fizzle out and come to nothing at all? Some people in the pubs, church halls and byways of middle England were starting to ask just that question.


It was with some comfort, therefore, that Ad was able to bring his feet under the table in his first operational squadron. He was in the odd situation of doing a war-time job during an official war but where no war time activity was happening. The pilots would report any faults to ‘Chiefie’, typically a flight sergeant who would allocate jobs among the erks. A day or so later the pilot would look into the hangar to see how repairs were progressing. The pilots were quite clear that they depended on the erks if their aeroplane was to stay in the air and bought them lots of beer to cement that relationship.


In the pubs of that Norfolk village – The Jolly Brewers, The Crown and Mitre and The Globe – aircrews and erks frequently drank together. The pubs were much better places to fight a war than the bloody trenches of Flanders that the old boys, irritatingly, kept telling them about. Old-timers were outraged that RAF officers and ‘other ranks’ would not only drink together but were on first name terms. This was a daring development in class-obsessed Britain. ‘This lot will never beat ’Itler,’ you might have heard them say. ‘This behaviour is just not done among real military men. Not done at all!’


And so, the war progressed, or indeed did not progress because nothing kept on happening throughout November, all through the winter and into spring. Over in Alsace somewhere, Bill had won a Military Medal in a skirmish with a German armed patrol. He had retrieved a machine gun from being captured at some risk to his own life. Risky though Bill’s adventure was, it was all a long way short of the butchery of the Somme, Ypres and the Marne. Oh well, there were always card games, and Ad was becoming very proficient at maintaining the very impressive Vickers Wellington heavy bombers.


‘Honestly, though,’ said Rosewarne, ‘you should have seen what we had here a few weeks before you got here.’


‘Before we had these magnificent brand-new kites?’


‘Yeah, we had Fairey Hendons and Handley Page Heyfords.’


‘Crikey, I haven’t even heard of those, let alone worked on them.’


‘Oh, we didn’t need erks on those. If anything went wrong the pilots used to stick them together with chewing gum and string. It terrified us flying those bloody contraptions, but I don’t know if they would have terrified Jerry too much.’


[image: ]


On 3 December events became more serious.


After breakfast, Ad went to hitch a lift into Kings Lynn to do a bit of shopping.


‘No you don’t, mate, the station’s closed,’ said the RAF police sergeant.


‘It’s what?’


‘Everyone has to stay on the station, mate, that includes you. You weren’t going to meet a young lady were you?’


‘Just to buy some boot polish and toothpaste, really.’


‘Well, those boots will just have to stay dirty. Anyway, those are our orders.’


‘What about officers, then?’


‘Group Captain Keith is allowed out but no-one else; not wing commanders not no-one else.’


It was just as well that Ad had not made it to Kings Lynn. Rosewarne and a couple of the other pilots came to see Chiefie.


‘Well, Chiefie, it looks like this is it. There’s a “do” on this afternoon.’


‘What? We’re going to go and bomb someone? So that was why the station’s cordoned off.’


‘Yes. It very much looks like it. The reason we came down is just to make sure that our kites are in tip-top order. We don’t want any Germans getting the drop on us if we can help it.’


After exactly a month on the station, the level of urgency increased suddenly and dramatically.


An hour later the pilots came back from their pre-operation test flight.


‘Right, chaps, that’s as good as we can get them. If you get shot down it’s down to Mr Barnes Wallis who designed the bloody things and not us because we have tuned them like a fiddle in the Halle Orchestra.’


‘Thanks, Chiefie, we’re just off for the briefing with Wing Commander Adams.’


An hour later the pilots were back. ‘There’s three of us on an op together with some kites from 115 and 149 squadrons to bomb some German warships in the Heligoland Bight.’


The selected crews were in a state of great excitement. The whole station was energised, enthused and entranced at the idea of giving old Hitler a punch ‘up the throat’. All aircrews, not only the selected three but the whole station, were bubbling with the thought of it. They looked avidly at atlases and found that Heligoland was off the West Coast of Germany, north of Cuxhafen. That meant about an hour and a bit flying time from Marham and they would be back in time for dinner and a few pints of best bitter in the Jolly Brewers afterwards.


After the early afternoon takeoff, the station was quiet, tense and on edge. They wanted to hear that the bomber fleet (well, it almost was) had sunk a battleship or two or at least a cruiser. Some three and bit hours later they were back: all three.


As his aeroplane taxied back to the hangar, Ad could see through the Perspex canopy that Rosewarne’s demeanour was a mixture of elation tempered with disappointment.


‘We saw them and we dropped bombs but we didn’t hit a bloody thing.’


So, even if they had not actually sunk the massive German battleships the squadron had, at least, broken its duck and was off to a start in the war.


A second aeroplane taxied back. The pilot was in a state of extreme elation.


‘We got attacked by a Messerschmitt, Leading Aircraftman Copley, the rear gunner, shot the bugger down.’ This meant that he was likely to be awarded a Distinguished Flying Medal (which turned out to be true) and this, in turn, meant that the ‘quiet celebratory drinks’ in the Jolly Brewers turned into a right old Royal Air Force booze-up, of which the erks were an integral part.


Then nothing happened again.
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Kings Lynn was a major centre for the evacuation of children from London. The assumption was that London was likely to be bombed. Rural Kings Lynn was not. Thousands of London children were therefore billeted with families around Kings Lynn and Norfolk. Now they were starting to drift home. Ever since the declaration of war there had been a governmental edict: all British people were to carry their gas masks at all times. Failure meant possible prosecution. Now the British people were starting not to carry their gas masks as they went about their business. In theory the Norfolk Constabulary should have charged them, but the police were as fed up with the non-war as much as anyone else.


Both in RAF Marham and in Kings Lynn people still grudgingly observed the blackout but the enthusiasm was clearly waning. When the air raid warden shouted, ‘Turn off that bloody light!’ he was likely to get a reply that was equally as raucous and completely unprintable. For the whole United Kingdom, the war seemed to be running out of steam. Rationing of food, clothes, furniture and all necessities of life had rapidly become an integral but irritating part of the tapestry of life. As a member of an operational squadron Ad was largely exempt from this but resentment across the country was growing; you could see it in the carping editorials in the daily newspapers.


Christmas came and went as did Pancake Day, Valentine’s Day and Easter. People were openly complaining about the rationing. What the hell was it all for? ‘In the first lot we had lost a million men by now,’ said the old-timers. ‘This isn’t much of a bloody war.’


Rosewarne’s crew drew a commendation from Wing Commander Adams for spotting a stricken lighthouse ship in the North Sea, which led to the crew being taken off and saved from a very nasty situation.


‘Well done, Viv!’ said the gang in the Jolly Brewers.


‘Not exactly war, though, is it?’ Rosewarne shrugged apologetically.
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On 9 April, the war finally began to hot up. British forces, for some inscrutable reason, invaded Norway. This was decidedly odd because Norway was a declared neutral country like Switzerland. No. 38 Squadron was given reconnaissance work reporting on German Naval movements in the North Sea. It was not exactly hot war work but it was, at least, war work of some sort. The Germans took Denmark.


The Norway campaign was shorted lived, grotesquely unsuccessful and demonstrated that whatever was happening in the war, Britain was not winning it. On 10 May, the newspaper headlines screamed that Chamberlain had resigned and Winston Churchill had taken over. This was a highly controversial appointment because many saw Churchill as a megalomaniac, self-deluded war monger. Others thought he was just the right man to stand up to Hitler.


As it transpired, the United Kingdom was not afforded any time whatsoever to debate the controversy. With no prior ceremony the German forces came pouring through the Ardennes mountains and into Holland and Belgium. No-one saw it coming. No-one could believe the suddenness. No-one anticipated the size of the attack. Noone was prepared. It was though a massive dam had burst and the floodwaters were rising by the minute. The flow of brotherly letters from Bill to Ad ceased immediately.


The mood on RAF Marham changed. Holland fell to the Germans; Belgium fell to the Germans. By the end of May the huge British Expeditionary Force in France had been pushed into a small pocket around Dunkirk. Britain and her French allies were losing everything. Germany was winning everything.


On 27 May, the vast evacuation at Dunkirk had begun. Where the hell was Bill? There had been no letter now for three weeks. Was he alive or was he dead? He was unlikely to be a prisoner, he would have charged the Germans with bayonet, broken bottles and half bricks, if need be, but would have gone down fighting. On 30 May RAF Marham was again closed off: this meant an ‘op’ – an operation.


‘Mornin’, Viv, where you off to today?’


‘Mornin’, Ad, we’ve got to go to a place called Veurne in Belgium to drop as much ordnance as possible on the Germans. There’s no particular aiming point; it’s just “hit anything that is coloured grey”. Roads, railways, tanks, gentlemen in square helmets, our orders are to hit anything that we can. They’re pressing onto the northern approaches to Dunkirk. Apparently, there are hundreds of thousands trying to get out through the port.’
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‘Hell!’ Ad thought. ‘Bill is probably in that lot if he is still alive. Let him be safe, oh, let him be safe.’


Chiefie demanded the erks do a perfect, perfect job that morning: better than perfect.


RAF Marham waved off the 17 Wellingtons of the squadron. Later that afternoon they came back; at least, most of them did. Rosewarne’s crew was not among them. So, this was it then: this was what the war was going to be like.


The disappearance of Rosewarne was the first sign of a procedure with which Ad would become only too familiar. At around 4 a.m. he would be woken by the clatter of boots as the men from the Committee of Adjustments entered the Nissen hut to remove the personal effects of Rosewarne and his crew. Their small van drove away taking all traces of the man with him. The next morning over breakfast someone would say, ‘Rosewarne’s crew have had the chop.’


‘Poor buggers’ would be the answer. No-one would refer to the crew again. It was as if it were tempting fate.


A new crew would take over the beds of the missing crew and life went on. It was as though ripples had gone across a surface of water but now it was smooth again.


In the normal run of events, Rosewarne’s crew would have been forgotten. In the case of Rosewarne something else happened.


A week later, Group Captain Keith summoned all ranks for an address in one of the empty hangars. Wing commanders were present as was the adjutant. This was clearly something of importance.


‘Maybe Hitler’s thrown the towel in.’


‘Bet you half a crown?’


‘No, not really.’


‘Parade! Parade, attention! Quiet everyone!’ shouted the authoritative warrant officer.


The Group Captain jumped up onto an empty packing case as the squadron, erks and aircrew sprang to attention.


‘At ease, gentlemen. The reason for calling you here this morning is to bring to your attention to something which I have discovered and which may be of some importance to all of us. Now, firstly, you are all aware that Flying Officer Rosewarne and his crew have not returned from an operation just north of Dunkirk. We have no information that he has put in at a different airfield or that he has crashed. His crew is posted as missing and it will be some time before we know precisely what has happened. You are all aware that aircrews write letters to next of kin, which are to be sent in this kind of contingency.’


The squadron nodded. A murmur rang out.


‘Thank you, gentlemen!’ The warrant officer flexed his authority.


‘Before he left on his last operation, Flying Officer Rosewarne left his letter unsealed. The adjutant has brought it to my attention. It appears that Flying Officer Rosewarne intended Wing Commander Adams and myself to read it in the event of his non-return.’


‘Reading a chap’s private letters?’ whispered a voice. ‘Dashed bad form!’


‘Shush you lot!’ hissed the warrant officer.


‘As you are all aware, last week’s evacuation of Dunkirk has been a resounding success. I do not know how many men we have extricated but it would fill the Empire Stadium at Wembley several times over. This squadron has played its part in this and none moreso than Flying Officer Rosewarne.


‘I have now contacted Flying Officer Rosewarne’s mother in Brentwood in Essex and requested her permission to make his letter public. She has graciously consented to do so. I therefore propose to read it out to you. I trust that you will find it as moving as I do.’


Dearest Mother:


Though I feel no premonition at all, events are moving rapidly and I have instructed that this letter be forwarded to you should I fail to return from one of the raids that we shall shortly be called upon to undertake. You must hope on for a month, but at the end of that time you must accept the fact that I have handed my task over to the extremely capable hands of my comrades of the Royal Air Force, as so many splendid fellows have already done.


First, it will comfort you to know that my role in this war has been of the greatest importance. Our patrols far out over the North Sea have helped to keep the trade routes clear for our convoys and supply ships, and on one occasion our information was instrumental in saving the lives of the men in a crippled lighthouse relief ship. Though it will be difficult for you, you will disappoint me if you do not at least try to accept the facts dispassionately, for I shall have done my duty to the utmost of my ability. No man can do more, and no-one calling himself a man could do less.


I have always admired your amazing courage in the face of continual setbacks; in the way you have given me as good an education and background as anyone in the country: and always kept up appearances without ever losing faith in the future. My death would not mean that your struggle has been in vain. Far from it. It means that your sacrifice is as great as mine. Those who serve England must expect nothing from her; we debase ourselves if we regard our country as merely a place in which to eat and sleep.


History resounds with illustrious names who have given all; yet their sacrifice has resulted in the British Empire where there is a measure of peace, justice and freedom for all, and where a higher standard of civilisation has evolved, and is still evolving, than anywhere else. But this is not only concerning our own land. Today we are faced with the greatest organised challenge to Christianity and civilisation that the world has ever seen, and I count myself lucky and honoured to be the right age and fully trained to throw my full weight into the scale. For this I have to thank you. Yet there is more work for you to do. The home front will still have to stand united for years after the war is won. For all that can be said against it, I still maintain that this war is a very good thing: every individual is having the chance to give and dare all for his principle like the martyrs of old. However long the time may be, one thing can never be altered — I shall have lived and died an Englishman. Nothing else matters one jot nor can anything ever change it.


You must not grieve for me, for if you really believe in religion and all that it entails that would be hypocrisy. I have no fear of death; only a queer elation... I would have it no other way. The universe is so vast and so ageless that the life of one man can only be justified by the measure of his sacrifice. We are sent to this world to acquire a personality and a character to take with us that can never be taken from us. Those who just eat and sleep, prosper and procreate, are no better than animals if all their lives they are at peace.


I firmly believe that evil things are sent into the world to try us; they are sent deliberately by our Creator to test our mettle because He knows what is good for us. The Bible is full of cases where the easy way out has been discarded for moral principles.


I count myself fortunate in that I have seen the whole country and known men of every calling. But with the final test of war I consider my character fully developed. Thus at my early age my earthly mission is already fulfilled and I am prepared to die with just one regret: that I could not devote myself to making your declining years more happy by being with you; but you will live in peace and freedom and I shall have directly contributed to that, so here again my life will not have been in vain.


Your loving son


The ranks of 38 Squadron at RAF Marham were silent. The warrant officer did not have to air his breezy authority.


‘Parade! Parade, dis-miss.’


The Rosewarne letter did not end its career at Marham on that bright June morning.


On 18 June, Ad was stopped by one of his mates.


‘Oy, Ad! Have you seen The Times today?’


‘Oh, I’m a Daily Mirror man myself; I don’t have much truck with those posh papers.’


‘You might have truck with this one: Rosewarne’s letter is published in it!’


‘What?’


Opening the unfamiliar and vast expanse of The Times, authoritative and magisterial even in its form of cheap, thin wartime paper he found it.


‘Good God!’
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There, in black and white, was the letter, exactly as Group Captain Keith had read it out. ‘Hey, it doesn’t actually mention his name and goodness knows how it got in the paper; there’s no clue as to where it came from.’ It was now called, very simply, ‘An Airman’s Letter to His Mother’.


‘Good old Viv. Well, if he has gone down, he has certainly gone down in glory.’ It was an uplifting detail against a backdrop of utter gloom in every other respect.


On this day Winston Churchill was to make one his famous speeches to the House of Commons. Part of that speech was broadcast to the British nation. Those who heard it said that the hairs stood up on the backs of their necks. The last paragraph, and especially the last sentence, was to become part of the fabric of British consciousness for decades.


What General Weygand called the Battle of France is over. I expect that the Battle of Britain is about to begin. Upon this battle depends the survival of Christian civilisation. Upon it depends our own British life, and the long continuity of our institutions and our Empire. The whole fury and might of the enemy must very soon be turned on us. Hitler knows that he will have to break us in this Island or lose the war. If we can stand up to him, all Europe may be free and the life of the world may move forward into broad, sunlit uplands. But if we fail, then the whole world, including the United States, including all that we have known and cared for, will sink into the abyss of a new Dark Age made more sinister, and perhaps more protracted, by the lights of perverted science. Let us therefore brace ourselves to our duties, and so bear ourselves that, if the British Empire and its Commonwealth last for a thousand years, men will still say, ‘This was their finest hour’.


Even despite this tour de force from the Prime Minister the Rosewarne letter continued to hold the nation’s attention. The Times received upwards of 10,000 requests for copies of Rosewarne’s letter. This, in turn led The Times Publishing Company to publish the letter in a short monograph. The first print ran out, as did the second print, as did the third print. While the Battle of Britain was raging, Vivian Rosewarne, improbably, had hit the nerve of the nation like a dentist’s drill applied without an anaesthetic.


Once France fell, 38 Squadron was drawn quickly and irrevocably into the war. Too many aeroplanes and men did not return. Daylight raids were quickly abandoned. To the amazement of the men who flew and the men who serviced the aircraft, higher command had actually practised common sense and recognised that daylight raids were suicidal. Night raids became the norm. Ad’s task now was to keep Wellingtons in the air, which were engaged several times each week on bombing the Channel Ports, Essen and other targets in the Ruhr and even as far as Berlin. The impetus behind the Rosewarne letter kept increasing. By the end of 1940 the letter had sold half a million copies. It had come to the attention of King George VI, who wrote personally to Rosewarne’s mother.


The letter had become such a topic of conversation that there were claims from sceptics that the letter had been written by a paid propagandist in some shadowy government agency. Shortly before Christmas, Rosewarne’s identity was revealed. This led to the letter crossing the Atlantic and being published by E.P. Dutton and Co. This ran to 12 editions and became a major text among the many Americans who felt that their country should be fighting Hitler and not maintaining neutrality.


In 1941 the film producer Michael Powell made a short film entitled An Airman’s Letter to his Mother to be shown before the main features through the United Kingdom.


We could only imagine that Ad and the other members of 38 Squadron were in a state of total amazement that one of their pilots, a 23-year-old, had written a letter to his mother which had taken the world by storm. Someone is bound to have said, ‘The pen is mightier...’ etc.


By the time that the Rosewarne letter achieved its eventual international status Ad was long gone from 38 Squadron. The squadron had been alerted that it was about to transfer to Egypt and was due to leave in November. There is bound to have been banter such as ‘you’d look great in a fez!’. A matter of days before the squadron departed Ad was surprised to discover a transfer order posting him to 10 Squadron at RAF Leeming in Yorkshire.


‘How the hell did you pull that off?’ some of his fellow erks must have asked.


How indeed? The Royal Air Force worked in mysterious ways.


During his time at 38 Squadron there was one piece of information which Ambrose Adlam would have found interesting. Vivian Rosewarne had been killed on 30 May 1940 at Veurne on the northern coast of France. Ad’s prayer to the Cosmos was answered: his brother Bill was still alive, although he had had some very close calls with a grisly death from German machine guns. He had escaped the German clutches and embarked a friendly British ship to take him ‘back to Blighty’. He was picked up from the beach at Bray Dunes. Bray Dunes and Veurne are within walking distance of each other. It is highly likely that Bill Adlam actually saw Rosewarne’s aircraft being shot down.


Such are the ironies of war.




CHAPTER 4










THE SHINY TEN








11 OCTOBER 1940




The train chugged and strained up the long embankment out of Manchester Victoria on its way to York. Thank goodness! He had a compartment to himself. He would be able to read the paper and maybe even indulge in forty winks.


The compartment door ground open. ‘These seats aren’t taken are they?’ He grudgingly smiled and shook his head with politeness rather than enthusiasm.


His head still felt a bit thick, if he was honest with himself, after that last boozey night on leave at home in Gloucester. A family – dad, mum and 12-year-old boy entered the compartment, arranged luggage and coats on the rack and sat down, smiling.


‘God! What a bloody mess!’ said the dad looking out of the window.


The ugly industrial factory-scapes of Miles Platting and Newton Heath were showing the signs of the war. Hitler’s Luftwaffe had reduced large factories to smoke blackened empty shells. They had reduced complete terraced streets of houses to piles of rubble. God knows how many people had lost their homes, been injured or died. Those factories that were still operating were now decked out in camouflage paint which made them look like the deranged imaginings of a deeply troubled surrealist painter.


Ad was on his way from Gloucester to Northallerton in Yorkshire to join 10 Squadron, ‘The Shiny Ten’, at RAF Leeming. No-one had explained why he had been transferred from 38 Squadron, especially as that squadron was bound immediately to go to Africa. ‘Oh well,’ as someone had so aptly said, ‘military intelligence is a contradiction in terms.’ That had not saved him from friendly ribbing in the mess.


There had been a lot of predictable gibes about ‘dodging the column’, ‘having it easy in Blighty’ and ‘don’t worry, we’ll sort out the Afrika Korps for you’ but it was all good natured and it hadn’t stopped them buying him a pint – actually a lot of pints – before he left for a week’s leave. Then there was the other gibe. It had not been uttered in his presence, but he knew it did the rounds among the aircrews. The gibe was ‘penguin’: airmen who did not fly. It did not cause him to lose sleep, but it gnawed in the background. It worried him.


‘Fag?’ asked the dad, proffering a vivid red cigarette packet.


‘Oh, Du Maurier, very nice, I’m afraid I’ve only got Capstans to offer back.’


‘Oh, don’t worry about that.’


‘It doesn’t sound like you’re from around these parts,’said Ad good-naturedly.


‘No, we’re from London, got bombed out two weeks ago.’


‘Oh, I’m sorry to hear that. Did you manage to salvage anything?’


‘Oh yes, we got back from the air raid shelter in the morning. There was a big mirror left that was on the chimney breast and there were half a dozen eggs left in the larder.’


‘What?’


‘Actually, we had to laugh, our next-door neighbour came around and asked if she make us a cup of tea, so we said, “We can all have an omelette as well!”’


They all laughed.


The man continued. ‘Actually, I’m glad to be out of London. I travelled a lot in my job...’


‘He works for an engineering firm...’ butted in the woman. Ad had to smile internally; civvies always had to be so quick to prove that they were playing their part.


‘It’s a reserved occupation,’ said the boy. Even schoolboys knew that ‘doing your bit’ was the most vital attribute of life in this whole sorry mess of a war.


‘Thank you, Eric,’ said his mum.


‘Well,’ the man continued, ‘you can travel from Wanstead in the east to Ealing in the west and you can smell fires and smouldering everywhere. There’s bombed-out houses all over the places...’


‘They’re great fun to play in,’ added Eric jovially.


‘What did I tell you about keeping out of those?’ said his mother sternly.


‘Anyway,’ his dad persisted, ‘the East End is in ruins, all the buildings around St Paul’s have gone, they’ve hit Buckingham Palace, Big Ben, half the shops on Oxford Street have been hit, and we don’t know how many dead there are but there’s a lot, a real lot. They’re using the Spurs’ football ground at White Hart Lane as a huge mortuary. We’re not supposed to know about it, but the word gets around.’


‘So, we came to Manchester to live with my sister-in-law until we get on our feet again. We’re all right, though, aren’t we Eric?’


‘Yes, I got given a new Meccano set and it was better than the old one that I lost.’


This was a different perspective on the war from that which Ad had been living under for the last year or so. Once hostilities had started, he had seen men go out and not come back. He had heard of men who had ended up in prisoner of war camps. He had heard of a few seriously wounded men who had been repatriated. Now he was seeing what it was like for civvies.


‘Mind you, though, I had a worse experience than that last week. I was on my bike in Wilmslow Road in Withington and a couple of Jerry planes appeared in the sky out of no-where, there was no air raid siren or anything. I heard the ack-ack guns starting up. Then there was this whistling sound. I knew what it was, so I jumped off my bike and into a ditch.’


‘You must have been terrified.’


‘Didn’t have time to think about being terrified. Anyway, there was this great big bloody bangs...’


‘Harry, don’t swear in front of the lad.’


‘Sorry, there was this great big bang and I kept my head down while all the debris was falling around me and on me and chunks of roadside and bits of kerb and bits of woods... oh, it was everywhere.’


‘Were you hurt?’


‘Only my pride. But when I stuck my head up there was a great big hole in the road and my bike had disappeared.’


‘He never found it, did you?’


They all dragged back the smoke from their Du Maurier cigarettes in silent contemplation.


‘Are you an aviator, sir?’ asked the boy.


‘No, I’m ground crew. I make sure the aeroplanes fly properly.’


‘That’s a pity!’ said the boy petulantly.


‘Eric!’ said his mother. ‘Manners, young man! I’m so sorry, he’s only 12.’


‘Why is it a pity?’ asked Ad in that kindly but indulgent manner that grown-ups reserve for children who have come close to overstepping the mark of propriety.


‘Well, if you were an aviator you could drop bombs on Germans and kill the lot of them.’


‘Eric!’ hissed his mother. ‘That’s not nice!’


‘I don’t know,’ said his dad. ‘Look at what’s happened in Liverpool, Birmingham, Weymouth, Southampton and London are getting bombed every night now. Every flippin’ night and there just isn’t an end to it.’


‘Gloucester too,’ was added to his list.


‘What happened in Gloucester?’asked the dad.


‘About five squadrons of Dorniers were on a daylight raid after the industrial factories. There were about 90 dead. A couple of my parents’ friends were killed when a stray bomb hit their house.’


They dragged on their cigarettes again. The train was grinding its way up into the Pennines now. The black, bomb scarred industrial heartland was behind them now. As they passed and into the higher country the first dustings of snow could just be seen on the mountain tops. They had left the ‘dark satanic mills’ and had entered ‘England’s green and pleasant land’.


‘You know, up here the war could be a million miles away,’ said the dad.


‘No, it couldn’t,’ said Eric. ‘Look over there. There’s a convoy of lorries going up into the hills. That’ll be the men back from Dunkirk, training to re-invade Europe.’


No-one said the obvious. There was no chance of an invasion in the near future, the middle future or, perhaps, in any future.


Ad disagreed with the man profoundly on another count as well. He had noticed something. It was something that it would have been a profound discourtesy to have noticed at all. It was Mum’s legs. They were stained with tea to make it look as though she were wearing stockings. She had pencilled a stocking ‘seam’ onto the back to complete the illusion. The war was stained in tea all over Mum’s calves.

OEBPS/Images/main-6.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img1ce3d37ae4f0.jpg
BIG SKY PUBLISHING
www.bigskypublishing.com.au






OEBPS/Images/main-5.jpg





OEBPS/Images/main-1.jpg
A catalogue record for this
ATIONAL book is available from the
LIBRARY National Library of Australia
O AUSTRALIA





OEBPS/Images/main-8.jpg





OEBPS/Images/main-9.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img3bb136677b36.jpg
BOMBS AND
BARBED WIRE

ONE MAN’S GREAT ESCAPE

 JEFF STEEL -
MICHAEL ADL A






OEBPS/Images/main-4.jpg





OEBPS/Images/main-10.jpg





OEBPS/Images/main-7.jpg





OEBPS/Images/main-3.jpg





OEBPS/Text/nav.xhtml


  

    Table of Contents



    

      		Cover



		Halftitle



		Title



		Copyright



		Contents



		Chapter 1: Dawn



		Chapter 2: The Balloon Goes Up



		Chapter 3: 38 Squadron and Vivian Rosewarne



		Chapter 4: The Shiny Ten



		Chapter 5: Mr and Mrs Adlam Return from South Africa



		Chapter 6: Johnny Lennox and the Crew Come Together



		Chapter 7: A Walk on the Wet Side – Leeming Revisited



		Chapter 8: Ambrose’s Raids – St Nazaire



		Chapter 9: The Raid on Kiel



		Chapter 10: The Raid on Stuttgart



		Chapter 11: Welcome to Gransden



		Chapter 12: The Raid on Duisburg



		Chapter 13: Target for Tonight: Dortmund



		Chapter 14: Enemy Coast Ahead!



		Chapter 15: Hauptmann Thimmig Boosts His Tally



		Chapter 16: Imprisonment – The First Days



		Chapter 17: Dulag Luft – The Subtle Oppressors



		Chapter 18: Dulag Luft – The Unsubtle Oppressors



		Chapter 19: Ambrose in Wonderland



		Chapter 20: Welcome to Stalag Luft III!



		Chapter 21: A Penguin Once Again



		Chapter 22: That Bitter Sweet Winter of ’43



		Chapter 23: Extortion and Two Earthquakes



		Chapter 24: I See You Stand Like Greyhounds in the Slips



		Chapter 25: The Great Escape – The Moment of Truth



		Chapter 26: Reality Dawns



		Chapter 27: Fallingbostel: The Three Realities and W/O Deans



		Chapter 28: The Long March



		Chapter 29: The 1219 from Paddington to loucester (Central)



		Appendix 1: What Became of the People in the Story?



		Appendix 2: Ambrose’s Odyssey



		Select Bibliography



		Acknowledgements



		About the Authors



    



  



